FILED
March 21, 2014
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

Supreme Court No. 90087-6
(COA No. 30893-6-III)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

vs.

JOANNE ALYSSE CREED
aka JOANNE ALYSSE NEYMAN,

Respondent.

STATE OF WASHINGTON'S
PETITION FOR REVIEW

JAMES P. HAGARTY
Prosecuting Attorney

FILED
APR - 2 2014
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
E *CPB*

Tamara A. Hanlon
Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSBA #28345
Attorney for Petitioner
128 N. Second Street, Room 329
Yakima, WA 98901
(509) 574-1210

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Petitioner is the State of Washington.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner seeks review of the Court of Appeals [Division III] published decision filed on February 20, 2014, in which the court affirmed the trial court's decision to suppress evidence in Joanne Creed's trial on one count of possession of a controlled substance-heroin. A copy of the decision is attached hereto as **Appendix A**. No party filed a motion for reconsideration.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Did the Court of Appeals err when it found that Officer Ramos lacked lawful authority to try to identify an item that he saw the defendant toss into her back seat as he walked up to her car to tell her she was free to leave?

Assuming *arguendo* that his actions were illegal, did the Court of Appeals err when it found that the drugs were fruits of Officer Ramos' actions and that the connection was not so attenuated as to dissipate any taint of prior illegality?

The State submits that the court should grant the petition for review because the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with

other decisions of the Washington State Supreme Court, as well as with prior decisions of the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

While on patrol at 12:30 a.m. on August 14, 2011, Officer Gabe Ramos of the Yakima Police Department made a routine check of the license plate number on a vehicle he observed at the intersection of McKinley and Oregon in Yakima. **(RP 2-3)**

The plate on the vehicle was 154 YDK, but Officer Ramos mistakenly read it as 154 YMK. **(RP 3-4)** Upon entering that number into the WASIC database, he learned that 154 YMK was stolen. **(RP 4-5)**

He initiated a traffic stop of the vehicle by activating his overhead emergency lights. The suspect vehicle pulled into and stopped in an alleyway. **(RP 5)** The patrol car was behind it, forming a 'T'. Officer Ramos exited his vehicle, and the driver started to get out of her vehicle, asking "[w]hat did I do?" Ramos instructed the driver to remain in the car. **(RP 5-6; 13; Ex. A)** At that point, he looked at the license plate and realized that it was not the same number he had run through the database. He returned to his vehicle, entered the correct number, and confirmed that the plates on the vehicle were not stolen. **(RP 5-6)**

Once he realized his mistake, he approached the driver of the stopped vehicle in order "[t]o notify the person that I had made a mistake

and they were free to go.” (RP 7) He did not move his car, nor did he turn off the emergency lights. (RP 13)

However, as Officer Ramos was approaching the driver, he observed her “toss something directly behind her driver’s seat onto the floorboard behind her seat.” (RP 7) Officer Ramos was approximately at the trunk of the stopped vehicle when he observed this action. The object appeared to be round. (RP 8) On cross-examination, Officer Ramos estimated that the total duration of the contact between the initial stop and the time at which he approached the window was approximately two minutes. (RP 13)

The officer continued to the driver’s side window in order to inform the driver of the reason for the stop, and as he began to speak to her, he looked down at the floorboard and recognized the “tar like substance inside the baggies.” (RP 8) He believed the substance inside to be heroin. (RP 8) During the contact with the driver, he illuminated the interior of the vehicle with his flashlight. (RP 15)

Joanne Creed, the driver, was then placed under arrest for possession of narcotics. She got out of the car at the officer’s direction, was placed in handcuffs, and secured in the patrol car. (RP 8-9)

After being advised of her Miranda and Ferrier warnings, Creed stated that the substance in her car was heroin, and consented in writing to

a search of her car. Officer Ramos retrieved the heroin. **(RP 9; 16)**

Later, during an inventory search of Creed's purse, officers retrieved two loaded syringes. **(RP 17)** Creed was charged with a single count of possession of a controlled substance-heroin, under Yakima County Superior Court cause number 11-1-01150-5. **(CP 1)** She filed a motion to suppress, arguing that her seizure by means of the traffic stop was not lawful, as it was not based on objective facts supporting a reasonable inference of criminal activity. **(CP 2-4; 5-16)** The State responded, and the defense filed a reply brief. **(CP 17-30; 31-40)**

The court heard testimony on April 3, 2012 and granted the motion to suppress, and dismissed the action without prejudice. **(CP 42)** The court subsequently entered findings of fact and conclusions of law, concluding that the initial stop of Ms. Creed was unlawful, as the officer's misreading of the license plate number did not provide a reasonable articulable suspicion, based on objective facts, that she had committed a violation of the law. **(CP 80-82)**

A motion for reconsideration was denied. **(CP43-78; 79)**

The State timely appealed. **(CP 83)** The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's decision. No motion for reconsideration was filed.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Review should be granted when a decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court or another decision of the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b). The court is asked to review a decision in which the Court of Appeals affirmed a trial court's decision to suppress drug evidence based on the "fruit of the poisonous tree" doctrine.

1. The Court of Appeals misapplied relevant case law in affirming the trial court's decision.

- a. The Court of Appeals erred when it found that Officer Ramos lacked lawful authority to try to identify an item that he saw the defendant toss into her back seat as he walked up to her car to tell her she was free to leave.**

It is well-settled that a warrantless search and seizure is *per se* unreasonable under both the Fourth Amendment and Art. I, sec. 7 unless the search falls within a specific exceptions to the warrant requirement. State v. Ross, 141 Wn.2d 304, 312, 4 P.3d 130 (2000). Once a seizure has been established, it is the State's burden to show that the seizure was justified. State v. Ladson, 138 Wn.2d 343, 349-50, 979 P.2d 833 (1999); State v. Potter, 156 Wn.2d 835, 840, 132 P.3d 1089 (2006).

Courts have long recognized that crime prevention and detection are legitimate purposes for investigative stops or detentions. Terry v.

Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 88 S. Ct. 1868, 20 L. Ed. 2d 889 (1968). An officer may detain a suspect for an investigative stop even though the officer does not have probable cause to believe the suspect has committed a crime. Id. A Terry stop is justified under both the Fourth Amendment and art. I, s. 7 if a police officer is able to “point to specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant that intrusion.” Id. at 21; State v. Armenta, 134 Wn.2d 1, 20, 948 P.2d 1280 (1997), *cited in* State v. Mendez, 137 Wn.2d 208, 223, 970 P.2d 722 (1999); State v. Day, 161 Wn.2d 889, 896, 168 P.3d 1265 (2007).

A Terry stop requires a well-founded suspicion that the defendant engaged in criminal conduct. State v. Doughty, 170 Wn.2d 57, 62, 239 P.3d 573 (2010). Also, a reasonable, articulable suspicion means that there “is a substantial possibility that criminal conduct has occurred or is about to occur.” State v. Kennedy, 107 Wn.2d 1, 6, 726 P.2d 445 (1986).

An officer must have a “well-founded suspicion not amounting to probable cause” upon which they may stop a suspect, identify themselves, and ask for identification and an explanation of his or her activities. State v. Little, 116 Wn.2d 488, 495, 806 P.2d 749 (1991), *citing* State v. White, 97 Wn.2d 92, 105, 640 P.2d 1061 (1982).

The level of articulable suspicion necessary to support an investigative detention is “a substantial possibility that criminal conduct

has occurred or is about to occur.” State v. Kennedy, 107 Wn.2d 1, 6, 726 P.2d 445 (1986).

A court must look at the totality of the circumstances known to the officer at the time of the stop in evaluating the reasonableness of the stop. State v. Glover, 116 Wn.2d 509, 514, 806 P.2d 760 (1991); State v. Duncan, 146 Wn.2d 166, 172, 43 P.3d 513 (2002). Also, a reviewing court takes into account, and gives deference to, an officer’s training and experience when determining the reasonableness of a Terry investigative detention. Glover, 116 Wn.2d at 514.

As the term “articulable suspicion” cannot encompass all the myriad factual situations which may arise, a court must look to the totality of circumstances in determining whether an investigative stop is lawful. State v. Stroud, 30 Wn. App. 392, 398, 634 P.2d 316 (1981). See, also, United States v. Cortez, 449 U.S. 411, 66 L. Ed.2d 621, 101 S. Ct. 690, 695, (1981). Further, a court must weigh “(1) the gravity of the public concern, (2) the degree to which the seizure advances the public interest, and (3) the severity of the interference with individual liberty.” Id. at 397.

Subsequent evidence that the officer was in error regarding some of his facts will not render a Terry stop unreasonable. State v. Seagull, 95 Wn.2d 898, 908, 632 P.2d 44 (1981) (“The Fourth Amendment does not proscribe ‘inaccurate’ searches only ‘unreasonable’ ones”).)

The Washington Supreme Court has recently reiterated this point in State v. Snapp, 174 Wn.2d 177, 275 P.3d 289 (2012), holding that a traffic stop based upon the infraction of driving without headlights was reasonable, even though the stop occurred some 24 minutes after sunset, and such conduct was not strictly in violation of the relevant statute: “. . . the question of a valid stop does not depend upon Wright’s actually having violated the statute. Rather, if Gregorio had a reasonable suspicion that he was violating the statute, the stop was justified.” Id. at 198.

This court has addressed the narrow issue of whether a law enforcement officer could continue to detain a driver, and ask for identification, even after it became apparent that the driver could not have been the registered owner, and thus the officer no longer had a reasonable articulable suspicion that the driver was driving with a suspended license. State v. Penfield, 106 Wn. App. 157, 22 P.3d 293 (2001). The court held that the officer had no other reason to ask for identification from the driver, and the continued detention was an unreasonable seizure. Id. at 162-63.

The holding in Penfield is an exception, as clarified in State v. Phillips, 126 Wn. App. 584, 588, 109 P.3d 470 (2005), which reiterated that an officer may stop a vehicle registered to a person whose license is suspended, and there is no apparent reason to believe the driver might not

be the owner: “[i]t is, then appropriate and permissible for the officer to dispel his or her suspicion by identifying the driver.” Id.

Here, the seizure of Ms. Creed was based on inaccurate information, but it was not unreasonable. First, the suspicion of Officer Ramos was based on objective facts: 154 YMK was indeed a stolen plate. The stop was effectuated when the officer incorrectly entered the license plate number, but his actions were reasonable after he had discovered the error: he entered the correct number from his terminal, but he did not check Ms. Creed’s driver’s license status, or check for any warrants. The fact of the error did not render the stop unreasonable.

He approached the car but *not* to request her identification or conduct further investigation. His sole intent was to let Ms. Creed know why she had been stopped, and then *let her go on her way*. The length of time between the traffic stop until the discovery of heroin was only two minutes altogether.

A courtesy contact is not unreasonable, as supported by a case cited in Penfield, whose facts are similar to those present here. The Ohio Supreme Court held that an officer could not further detain a driver, and request the driver’s identification after any suspicion was dispelled, “[a]lthough the police officer, as a matter of courtesy, could have

explained to appellee the reason he was initially detained . . . “ State v. Chatton, 11 Ohio St. 3d 59, 63, 463 N.E.2d 1237 (1984).

While is officer is conducting a courtesy contact, he is in a lawful vantage point to make plain view observations. The use of a flashlight to illuminate something he can see in plain view does not elevate the use of a flashlight to a search. The use of a flashlight has been upheld under the open view theory in a number of contexts. State v. Rose, 128 Wn.2d 388, 397, 909 P.2d 280 (1996).

In the case at hand, the Court of Appeals indicated that after the officer realized his mistake, he looked at the item in the back seat “with the aid of his flashlight.” He clearly did not lack any lawful authority to proceed with this action when he was in a place he had a right to be. Nothing prohibits an officer from using a flashlight during a traffic stop when they see the driver throw something to the back of the car.

The Court of Appeals also indicated that the officer never turned off his overhead lights as he approached the Defendant’s car. This was not unusual given that it was very dark out, around 12:30 a.m. **(RP 3)** The officer was stopped in an alleyway behind the defendant’s car that was parked in a parking lane. **(RP 5)** The front of his vehicle was perpendicular to her car and at the back end of her vehicle for officer safety reasons. **(RP 6)** Keeping the overhead lights on in this situation

would be simply common sense. An officer is parked in the middle of an alley way in the middle of the night. There would be no reason for him to turn off the lights while he goes to tell Creed she is free to go.

The Court of Appeals is thus incorrect in concluding that Officer Ramos took actions that were “inconsistent with” telling Creed she was free to leave. Officer Ramos took completely legal actions based upon the Defendant’s action of throwing drugs into the backseat of her car. The court’s decision misapplies Penfield and Phillips. As such, this Court should reverse the Court of Appeals decision as Officer Ramos did not lack lawful authority when he observed the drugs in this case.

b. Assuming *arguendo* that the officer’s actions were illegal, the drugs are not “fruit of the poisonous tree” because the connection between the evidence and the officer’s actions was so attenuated as to dissipate the taint of any illegality.

The attenuation doctrine defines the parameters of the “fruit of the poisonous tree” doctrine. Evidence is not “fruit of the poisonous tree” if the connection between the challenged evidence and the illegal actions of the police is “so attenuated as to dissipate the taint.” State v. Eserjose, 171 Wn.2d 907, 921, 259 P.3d 172 (2011).

The court’s decision in State v. Vangren, 72 Wn.2d 548, 433 P.2d 691 (1967), illustrates the appropriateness of applying the attenuation doctrine under article I, section 7. State v. Eserjose, 171 Wn.2d 907, 921

(2011). There, police officers arrested a person who was suspected of defrauding an innkeeper of \$200 through the use of credit cards bearing a false name. Id. The police officers erroneously believed that what was in fact only a misdemeanor constituted a felony. Id. Because they had no warrant for the person's arrest, and the misdemeanor had not been committed in their presence, the arrest was unlawful. Id. The defendant argued that his subsequent confession at the police station was inadmissible as "fruit of the poisonous tree." Id. (citing Vangen, 72 Wn.2d at 552). The Court held that his confession was properly admitted. Id.

This approach was upheld in State v. Eserjose, 171 Wn.2d 907, 921 (2011):

When a court determines that evidence is not the "fruit of the poisonous tree," a defendant's privacy rights are respected, the deterrent value of suppressing the evidence is minimal, and the dignity of the judiciary is not offended by its admission. An alternative "but for" principle would make it virtually impossible to rehabilitate an investigation once misconduct has occurred, granting suspected criminals a permanent immunity unless, by chance, other law enforcement officers initiate an independent investigation.

The "fruit of the poisonous tree" doctrine does not operate on a "but for" basis. Wong Sun v. United States, 371 U.S. 471, 488, 83 S. Ct.

407, 9 L.3d 2d 441 (1963). As explained in Vangen, the illegal seizure must “have been an operative factor in causing or bringing about the confession.” Vangen, 72 Wn.2d at 555. The record shows that it was not in this case.

The Court of Appeals found that it was reasonable for Officer Ramos to tell Ms. Creed she was free to go, but held that “his observations of baggies of a tar-like substance on the floor of the backseat before sending her on her way does not provide an independent basis for admitting the evidence.” The Court of Appeals relied on State v. Penfield, 106 Wn. App. 157, 159, 22 P.3d 293 (2001), which held that an officer may not proceed with a traffic stop of a driver for having a suspended license, once it is manifestly clear that the driver is not the registered owner, and thus, not the person with the suspended license.

In Penfield, an officer, after stopping a car for suspended license, asked the male driver for his driver’s license when the registered owner, and person with the suspended license, was female. The officer arrested the male driver for an arrest warrant. A marijuana bud was found during a search of the defendant’s person incident to arrest. The officer then called for a K-9 drug search and a large amount of meth was found under the vehicle. The actions taken by Office Ramos are in stark contrast to the actions taken by the officer if Penfield.

The Court of Appeals is incorrect in its application of the Penfield case to the case at bar. Here, Officer Ramos saw her throw away heroin in his presence. This wasn't simply a case of Officer Ramos proceeding with a traffic stop, as in Penfield. Ms. Creed voluntarily threw the heroin. As explained in the dissenting opinion: "nothing the officer did required or encouraged her to expose the substance. Once she did expose it, the officer did nothing wrong in shining his light to confirm the identity of the item." One who leaves contraband in plain sight, visible through an unobstructed window to anyone standing outside, does not have a reasonable expectation of privacy in the visible area. Nor is the mere use of a flashlight an intrusive method of viewing. State v. Rose, 128 Wn.2d 388, 399 (1996).

Here, Ms. Creed's actions are sufficiently attenuated. See State v. Eserjose, 171 Wn.2d 907, 921 (2011). The State would submit that the Court of Appeals is incorrect in its conclusion otherwise. The Court of Appeals has misapplied Penfield and Phillips to the facts of this case.

F. CONCLUSION

The Court should grant the State of Washington's Petition for Review for the reasons outlined above and the Court of Appeals decision should be reversed.