A. IDENTITY OF ANSWERING PARTY 

Respondent Joanna Creed answers the Yakima County Prosecutor's 

petition for review. 

B. RELIEF REQUESTED 

Ms. Creed asks this court to deny the petition for review. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED 

1. After realizing that he lacked any factual basis for stopping 

the respondent's car, the officer approached the driver to 

acknowledge his error. As he did so, he saw the driver toss 

something into the back seat. Did the officer's ensuing effort 

to identify the nature of the object by looking into the area 

behind the driver's seat with the aid of a flashlight, prior to 

acknowledging his error, violate the driver's right to be free 

of an unreasonable search or seizure? 

2. Assuming the officer's search of the passenger compartment 

of the vehicle in the course of an unlawful seizure violated 

the driver's constitutional rights, was the connection between 

the unlawful seizure and the officer's discovery of heroin 



behind the driver's seat so attenuated as to dissipate the taint 

ofthe illegal seizure? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Officer Ramos saw Ms. Creed's car and attempted to check the 

license plate. (RP 2-4) He apparently misread the number, entered an 

incorrect number, and learned that the number he had entered was for a 

stolen license plate. (RP 4) Officer Ramos initiated a traffic stop. (RP 4-5) 

Ms. Creed turned into a nearby alley, parked her car, and Officer Ramos 

parked his patrol car directly behind hers. (RP 5-6) 

Ms. Creed began to get out of her car. (RP 6) Officer Ramos got out 

of his car, ordered her to remain in her car, and then noticed that the license 

plate number on Ms. Creed's car was not the same number he had entered. 

(RP 6-7) Officer Ramos realized he had made a mistake. (RP 7) 

On realizing his mistake, Officer Ramos ran a check on Ms. Creed's 

actual license plate number and determined that it was not stolen. (RP 7) He 

approached Ms. Creed, purportedly to tell her she was free to go. (RP 7) As 

he was reaching the trunk of her car he saw her toss an unidentified object 

behind her seat. (RP 7-8) 

After seeing Ms. Creed toss something, Officer Ramos approached 

her, looked at the floor of the car behind her seat with the aid of a flashlight, 
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and observed what appeared to him to be baggies of heroin. (RP 7-8) He 

promptly placed her in handcuffs. (RP 8) 

The State charged Ms. Creed with possession of narcotics. (CP 1) 

She moved to suppress the evidence obtained following her arrest. (CP 2-4) 

The trial court granted the motion to suppress and the State appealed that 

ruling. (CP 80-82) The Court of Appeals affirmed. Judge Korsmo authored 

a dissent in which he agreed that while the initial seizure of Ms. Creed's car 

was unlawful, the evidence Officer Ramos saw behind her seat was not the 

fruit of that stop and should not have been admissible. 

E. ARGUMENT 

Petitioner has failed to show that the Court of Appeals decision 

conflicts with any decision ofthis court or any other decision ofthe Court of 

Appeals. 

1. THE DECISION BELOW, REQUIRING 
REASONABLE SUSPICION TO JUSTIFY A 
TRAFFIC STOP, IS CONSISTENT WITH 
EXISTING LAW, INCLUDING THE CASES 
CITED BY PETITIONER. 

The State has not expressly presented for review the issue of whether 

the Court of Appeals erred in determining the initial stop was unlawful. 

Petition at 7-8. The State nevertheless argues this court should grant 

review because at the time he initiated the stop, Officer Ramos had an 
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articulable suspicion of criminal conduct. The State cites State v. Seagull, 

95 Wn.2d 898, 908, 632 P. 2d 44 (1981), for the proposition that 

"[s]ubsequent evidence that the officer was in error regarding some of his 

facts will not render a Terry stop unreasonable. ('The Fourth Amendment 

does not proscribe 'inaccurate' searches only unreasonable ones.')" and 

argues this principal was extended in State v. Snapp, 174 Wn. 2d 177, 198, 

275 P. 3d 289 (2012), to support the conclusion the traffic stop was justified 

if the officer "had a reasonable suspicion" the driver was "violating the 

statute". 174 Wn.2d at 198. Neither of these cases involved a mistake of 

fact that resulted from the arresting officer's negligent actions. 

The Court of Appeals decision in the present case correctly applies 

the "reasonable suspicion" standard of Seagull and Snapp: "An officer 

cannot reasonably believe that a car bears stolen license plates based on a 

WACIC2 report addressing an unrelated license plate number." 

State v. Creed,-- Wn. App. --,319 P. 3d 80,81 (2014). 

2. PETITIONER SUGGESTS OFFICER'S CONTINUED 
INVESTIGATION AND DETENTION OF MS. 
CREED, AFTER DISCOVERING HIS MISTAKE, 
WAS REASONABLE BECAUSE IT DID NOT 
EXTEND TO REQUESTING IDENTIFICATION. 

The State cites State v. Penfield, 106 Wn. App. 157, 160-61, 

22 P.3d 293 (2001) and State v. Phillips, 126 Wn. App. 584, 587, 
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109 P.3d 4 70, 472 (2005) for the proposition that after he discovered his 

mistake the officer's actions, including running a second license plate check 

as well as looking into the back of her car with the aid of a flashlight, were 

reasonable so long as they did not extend to his requesting Ms. Creed's 

identification. Petition at 8-9. Neither case provides any support for this 

claim. 

Together, Penfield and Phillips stand for the proposition that even an 

otherwise lawful seizure ceases to be lawful once the officer has learned that 

his reasonable suspicion was based on a mistake of fact. In those cases, the 

initial stop was justified by a specific statute authorizing detaining of the 

driver of a car based on a report that the drivers license of the car's owner 

had been suspended and requiring the driver to display his license. 

RCW 46.20.349. The State cites no Washington case holding that the scope 

of an investigative stop includes a "courtesy contact" once the purpose of the 

stop has been accomplished. 

"[T]he statute provides that the scope of the stop shall be limited to 

the sole purpose of ascertaining whether the driver has a valid license 

to operate the vehicle. City of Seattle v. Yeager, 67 Wn. App. 41, 48, 

834 P.2d 73, 77 (1992). Such a stop is characterized as an investigative stop 

or seizure: "A seizure has occurred within the meaning of the Fourth 

Amendment when, by means of physical force or a show of authority, one's 
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freedom of movement is restrained" /d. at 47-48; see State v. Armenta, 

134 Wn.2d 1, 10,948 P.2d 1280, 1284 (1997) 

The Court of Appeals majority acknowledges that '"as a matter of 

courtesy"' an officer could explain to a driver the reason for the initial 

detention and then send him on his way. State v. Creed, 319 P.3d at 85, 

quoting State v. Chatton, 11 Ohio St. 3d 59, 463 N.E.2d 1237 (1984). "That 

sort of momentary, entirely noninvestigative contact would have been 

reasonable here too." !d. Petitioner cites no authority for the proposition 

that a "momentary, entirely noninvestigative contact" may be expanded to 

permit the officer to continue the investigation by attempting to determine if 

there may be other identifiable grounds for further detention. 

An investigative detention must be temporary and last no longer 

than is necessary to effectuate the purpose of the stop. State v. Wheeler, 

43 Wn. App. 191, 195-96, 716 P.2d 902 (1986) (citing Florida v. Royer, 

460 U.S. 491, 500, 103 S. Ct. 1319, 75 L. Ed. 2d 229 (1983)). The 

investigative methods employed should be the least intrusive means 

reasonably available to verify or dispel the officer's suspicion in a short 

period oftime. Wheeler, 43 Wn. App. at 195-96 (citing Royer, 460 U.S. at 

500). 

The purpose of stopping Ms. Creed's car was to investigate the theft 

of vehicle license plates. Once the officer determined that there was no 
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factual basis for his suspicion that the plates were stolen, the purpose ofthe 

stop was attained; any further investigation necessarily exceeded the scope 

of the stop. Instead the stop was prolonged for a couple of minutes which, 

from the standpoint of an unlawfully detained citizen, is more than 

momentary. The officer used those minutes to engage in investigative 

conduct including running another license check, approaching Ms. Creed's 

car, flashlight in hand, and shining the flashlight into the back seat area to 

further investigate what he perceived to be a furtive gesture. 

By continuing to detain Ms. Creed while he investigated the status of 

the actual license plate number on her car, Officer Ramos plainly exceeded 

the scope of any permissible investigation. Regardless of whether the initial 

seizure was lawful, the ensuing investigation was not and the sole remaining 

issue would be whether the evidence found in Ms. Creed's car was tainted by 

the unlawful seizure. See Wong Sun v. United States, 371 U.S. 471, 488, 

83 S. Ct. 407, 9 L. Ed. 2d 441 (1963) (citation omitted); State v. Cantrell, 

70 Wn. App. 340, 346, 853 P.2d 479 (1993), overruled in part on other 

grounds, 124 Wn.2d 183, 875 P.2d 1208 (1994). 

The Court of Appeals opinion is fully consistent with Penfield and 

Phillips decisions. 
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3. PETITIONER CONTENDS THE HEROIN WAS 
NOT THE FRUIT OF THE ILLEGAL SEIZURE 
BECAUSE THE CONNECTION BETWEEN THE 
UNLAWFUL SEIZURE OF MS. CREED AND 
THE DISCOVERY OF HEROIN WAS TOO 
ATTENUATED. 

Relying on State v. Eserjose, 171 Wn.2d 907, 919, 259 P.3d 172 

(2011) and State v. Vangen, 72 Wn.2d 548, 433 P.2d 691 (1961), petitioner 

argues that the connection between Officer Ramos's continuing unlawful 

detention of Ms. Creed and his eventual discovery of the baggies behind the 

driver's seat was so attenuated as to dissipate the taint of the unlawful 

seizure. Petition at 11. 

The validity of the attenuation doctrine under Canst. Art. I, § 7 is a 

matter of some dispute: "The concurrence's use of the attenuation doctrine is 

equally concerning because we have not explicitly adopted it under article I, 

section 7. State v. Eserjose, 171 Wash.2d 907, 919, 259 P.3d 172 (2011)." 

State v. Smith, 177 Wn.2d 533, 552, 303 P.3d 1047 (2013) (Madsen 

concurring in the result) "I recognize this court has shown some recent 

reluctance to adopt the attenuation doctrine." 177 Wn.2d 533 (Gonzalez, J., 

concurring in the result) 

This court has never adopted the attenuation doctrine and, in 
my view, it has no place under article I, section 7. I recognize 
the issue has badly split this court. In Eserjose, three justices 
gave their unqualified signatures to an opinion adopting it; 
four justices, including this dissenting justice, lent their 
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unqualified signatures to an opinion rejecting *560 it. See 
171 Wash.2d at 929, 259 P.3d 172 (Alexander, J., lead 
opinion), 940 (C. Johnson, J., dissenting). 

State v. Smith, 177 Wn.2d at 559-60 (Chambers, J. dissenting) Nor is this a 

case in which it would be helpful to revisit the issue. 

In Eserjose, police arrested Mr. Eserjose in his parents' home, 

although they had not obtained a warrant or the parents' consent to enter 

beyond the entryway. /d. at 910. Officers twice advised him of his rights 

under Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S. Ct. 1602, 16 L. Ed. 2d 694 

(1966). !d. at 911. "[H]e initially denied any knowledge ofthe burglary, but 

he confessed after being told that his co-defendant had done so. Id. In 

finding that the connection between the defendant's unlawful arrest and his 

eventual confession was sufficiently attenuated to render the confession 

admissible, the court gave weight to the fact that although the initial arrest 

was unlawful, by the time Mr. Eserjose made his confession, "during the 

lawful custodial interrogation that occurred after the illegal seizure had 

ended." 171 Wn.2d at 924. "Eserjose's confession was obtained with the 

requisite 'authority of law,' the deputies having the legal authority based on 

probable cause developed independently ofthe illegal arrest to keep Eserjose 

in custody and to question him about the burglary." 171 Wn.2d at 926. 

Here, Officer Ramos was aware that he had no lawful basis for 

detaining Ms. Creed, and Ms. Creed had no reason to believe she was free to 
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go. She had been, and remained, unlawfully detained at the time Officer 

Ramos approached her, flashlight in hand, to examine the interior ofher car. 

The facts of this case provide no attenuation of the connection between the 

unlawful detention and the resulting discovery of incriminating evidence 

consistent with the reasoning in Eserjose. 

The defendant in Vangen was unlawfully arrested and detained 

without a warrant on suspicion of a misdemeanor, "defrauding an innkeeper 

of $200," using of credit cards bearing a false name." 72 Wn. 2d at 552. 

Eventually the police contacted "the real Elmer J. Johnson in Minneapolis" 

whose name appeared on the credit cards and Mr. Vangen admitted his true 

identity. Id. at 553. The court found the confession admissible: 

Even though a detention is illegal, if the confession is truly 
voluntary and the causation factor of the illegal detention is 
so weak, or has been so attenuated, as not to have been an 
operative factor in causing or bringing about the confession, 
then the connection between any illegality of detention and 
the confession may be found so lacking in force or intensity 
that the confession would not be the fruit of the illegal 
detention. (151 Conn. p. 250, 196 A.2d p. 757) 

We think the foregoing quotation fits the present situation 
with tailor-like exactness, assuming the detention to have 
been illegal. 

72 Wn.2d at 555. It is beyond cavil that Ms. Creed's remaining in a place 

where the interior of her car could be searched was not truly voluntary. 

Compare State v. Mierz, 127 Wn.2d 460, 474-75, 901 P.2d 286 (1995) 
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(defendant assaulted police officers who entered fenced yard without a 

warrant) To the extent that her action in tossing something into the back 

seat caused the officer to examine the interior of her car, the fact that she had 

been stopped by a police officer and ordered to remain in her car cannot be 

discounted as an operative factor in bringing about that activity. 

Assuming this court would apply the attenuation doctrine in the 

present case, the Court of Appeals decision is entirely consistent with the 

reasoning in the cases cited by petitioner. 

E. CONCLUSION 

Ms. Creed asks this court to deny the petition for review of the Court 

of Appeals decision, which is wholly consistent with other decisions ofthis 

court and the Court of Appeals.